





Lung microbiome in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Sung Woo Moon

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University



Lung microbiome in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Directed by Professor Ji Ye Jung

The Doctoral Dissertation submitted to the Department of Medicine, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Science

Sung Woo Moon

December 2023



This certifies that the Doctoral Dissertation of Sung Woo Moon is approved.

	Thesis Supervisor : Ji Ye Jung
	gue
	Thesis Committee Member#1 : Young Sam Kin
	Thesis Committee Member#2 : Sungho Wor
	91M3-
	Thesis Committee Member#3: Hana Y
	2005
,	Thesis Committee Member#4 : Kyung Won Kin
	167382
	F

The Graduate School Yonsei University

December 2023



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my PhD supervisor, Prof. Ji Ye Jung, who was an invaluable mentor. Her gift for experiment conceptualization, enduring encouragement, and practical advice have been an inestimable source of support for me during this process. I would also like to thank Prof. Hana Yi for her advice and feedback. From the initial stages of refining my research proposal to the final submission of my thesis, their unwavering presence and wealth of wisdom have been instrumental in shaping my academic growth. I highly valued the meetings we held, which not only served as crucial checkpoints to keep me on track academically but also provided me with plenty of encouragement. I would also like to thank Profs. Young Sam Kim, Kyung Won Kim, and Sung Ho Won for their thorough reviews and valuable advice. Thank you to Sun Mi Choi and Min Hong Kim, who shared this journey with me. Finally, as I look back on completing my doctoral degree, I realize that there were many challenging and difficult moments during hospital duties, graduate classes, and thesis work. The support from my colleagues and friends was invaluable. Finally, I would like to thank my family. I am grateful to my wife and son, Woo Hyun, for their love. I want to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all of you for sharing the glory of achieving my PhD.



<TABLE OF CONTENTS>

ABSTRACT······iv
I. INTRODUCTION ······ 1
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS
1. Study population ······2
2. Sputum sample acquisition4
3. Bacteriome sequencing and analysis
4. Statistical analysis ······5
III. RESULTS
1. Baseline characteristics ······6
2. Lung microbiome in patients with COPD and healthy controls 10
3. Lung microbiome in COPD according to clinical characteristics at baseline
4. Association between repeatedly collected lung microbiome and clinical
characteristics in COPD
IV. DISCUSSION
V. CONCLUSION ······ 28
REFERENCES
ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN) ····································
PUBLICATION LIST



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Data collection timeline
Figure 2. Bacterial composition of sputum samples at the genera level. 8
Figure 3. Comparison of the microbiome profile between healthy and
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease airways 10
Figure 4. Differences in the lung microbiome between patients with
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and healthy controls at the
genera level 11
Figure 5. Spearman correlation heatmap based on genera and clinical
variables
Figure 6. Microbiome profile according to recent exacerbation 14
Figure 7. Microbiome profile according to smoking status 15
Figure 8. Microbiome profile according to inhaled corticosteroid usage.
Figure 9. Microbiome profile according to forced expiratory volume in 1
s % predicted value of 50% at baseline 17
Figure 10. Significant differences in the microbiome of patients with
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease at the genera level according to
clinical characteristics
Figure 11. Difference in abundance during the follow up according to
recent exacerbation
Figure 12. Difference in abundance during the follow up according to
inhaled corticosteroid usage



Figure 13. Difference in abundance during the follow up according to
smoking status 24
Figure 14. Difference in abundance during the follow-up according to
FEV ₁ % predicted value of 50%2

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Summary characteristics of participants included in the study 7Table 2. Negative binomial mixed models for genera with significantly different abundances according to various clinical characteristics ··· 21



ABSTRACT

Lung microbiome in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Sung Woo Moon

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Ji Ye Jung)

Introduction: The profile of the lung microbiome when sampled longitudinally over extended time frames remain poorly understood. In this study, we aimed to compare the lung microbiome of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) to that of healthy subjects and how it differs according to various clinical characteristics by serial data collection from the same participants.

Methods: Ten healthy males and 43 males with COPD were recruited between February 2017 and August 2021 at Severance Hospital. We collected 129 sputum samples annually for 2 years from the participants with COPD. Sputum was analyzed using 16S ribosomal ribonucleic acid gene sequencing. We investigated the association of recent exacerbation (acute exacerbation within 3 months), inhaled corticosteroid (ICS) use, smoking status (current or ex-smoker), and lung function with the respective genera of the lung microbiome by fitting multiple negative binomial mixed models (NBMM).

Results: There were no significant differences between the microbial diversity of patients with COPD and that of healthy controls, or according to clinical characteristics. However, *Parvimonas, Selenomonas, Peptostreptococcus, Bulleidia*, and *PAC000661_g* were significantly more frequently identified in patients with COPD. In the NBMM adjusted for age, post-bronchodilator ratio of forced expiratory volume in 1 s, (FEV₁) % predicted, and smoking status, abundances of the genera *PAC001141_g*, *PAC001354_g*, and *Slackia* were significantly lower in the patients who suffered from recent exacerbations. In the model adjusted for age, FEV₁ % predicted, and smoking status, the abundances of the genera *PAC001141_g*, *AB494828_g*, and *Veillonella* were significantly lower in ICS users, while



the abundances of *PAC000661_g*, *Capnocytophaga*, *Phocaeicola*, and *Paludibacter* were significantly higher in ICS users. In the model adjusted for age and FEV₁ % predicted, the abundances of the genera *Actinomyces*, *Atopobium*, *Eubacterium_g11*, *Neisseriaceae_G*, *Bulleidia*, *Fretibacterium*, *Slackia*, *Dialister*, and *PAC001354_g* were significantly higher in current smokers than in ex-smokers. In the model adjusted for age and smoking status, significantly lower abundances of the genera *Bacteroides*, *Pasteurellaceae_G*, and *Aggregatibacter*, and significantly higher abundances of the genera *Prevotella*, *Leptotrichia*, *Megasphaera*, *AB494828_g*, and *Butyrivibrio* were observed according to increasing FEV₁ % predicted.

Conclusion: Using serial data collected over years, we demonstrated that the lung microbiome in the patients with COPD differs significantly according to recent exacerbations, ICS use, smoking status, and lung function. These findings expand the current understanding of the microbiome in patients with COPD.

Key words: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, lung microbiome, smoking, lung function, exacerbation, inhaled corticosteroid



Lung microbiome in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Sung Woo Moon

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Ji Ye Jung)

I. INTRODUCTION

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a chronic inflammatory disorder resulting in an irreversible decline in lung function due to inhalation of tobacco smoke or other irritants.¹ Worldwide, COPD affects 300 million people and is the third leading cause of death.² COPD is characterized by largely irreversible airflow limitation, mucus hypersecretion, small airway fibrosis, and destruction of the alveolar space.^{1,3} Over the past decade, there has been a tremendous surge in interest in discovering novel biomarkers for COPD; however, in most cases, the value of novel biomarkers in guiding COPD phenotyping, prognosis, and management has been limited.⁴

From the initial description of COPD, there has been considerable controversy about the role of microbiome in its pathogenesis.⁵ The human microbiome compromises an estimated 100 trillion microbes and our understanding of it has increased dramatically in recent years. ⁶ The healthy human lung contains a variety of commensal microbiota throughout the respiratory tract, which shows substantial heterogeneity between, and over time, within individuals and across regions within the lung.^{7,8}

The lung microbiome represents an emerging opportunity for understanding the heterogeneity and exacerbation of COPD. Alterations in the taxonomic composition of the lung microbiome, known as dysbiosis, have been associated with multiple lung diseases, and in particular may play a functional role in disease severity and exacerbation.⁹ There is emerging evidence showing that the lung microbiome is associated with clinical outcome and mortality of patients with COPD.¹⁰



Most studies on the lung microbiome in COPD were cross-sectional¹¹ or short-term studies.^{9,12} COPD is a persistent, often progressive disease,³ and investigating the microbiome over the long-term is crucial for the clinical utility of the microbiome as a diagnostic or predictive tool. However, the profile of the lung microbiome sampled over longer time frames remains poorly understood.¹³ By observing the lung microbiome in COPD over years, researchers could gain a better understanding of how the microbial composition may be linked to various clinical characteristics of COPD, including disease severity, exacerbation frequency, response to treatment, and overall prognosis.

In this prospective study, sputum samples, which are reported to be consistent with the respiratory microbiome detected in bronchoalveolar lavage and bronchial samples^{14,15}, were collected annually for two years from patients with COPD. Through serial sampling of the lung microbiome using a sensitive molecular diagnostic technique, we aimed to compare the lung microbiome of COPD to that of healthy subjects and identify the differences according to various clinical characteristics.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Study population

At baseline, 10 healthy male participants who smoked cigarettes and 54 (53 male and 1 female) patients with COPD were recruited between February 2017 and July 2018 at Severance Hospital.

The inclusion criteria for patients with COPD were as follows: postbronchodilator ratio of forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁) % predicted to forced vital capacity (FVC) < 0.7, and absence of respiratory diseases other than COPD (e.g., previous pulmonary resection, tuberculosis-affected lung, and bronchiectasis).

We excluded the one recruited female patient from the analysis because we did not have enough female participants to determine the influence of sex on the lung microbiome. Additionally, 10 male patients with COPD were excluded from the



study due to loss to follow-up (n = 9) or incomplete clinical information (n = 1). Finally, 10 healthy male subjects without COPD and 43 patients with COPD were included in this study.

After an initial enrollment visit, the patients were followed-up every year for two years, and demographic data, exacerbations, pulmonary function tests, COPD assessment test (CAT),¹⁶ modified medical research council (mMRC) dyspnea scale, ¹⁷ St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) scores, sputum samples, and laboratory tests were collected or performed (Figure 1). Recent exacerbation was defined as the aggravation of one of three symptoms (dyspnea, cough, or sputum) for two or more days requiring an unscheduled hospital visit for additional treatment with systemic steroids or antibiotics, emergency room visits, or hospitalization within the past 3 months.



Figure 1. Data collection timeline. COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; BMI, body mass index; ICS, inhaled corticosteroids.



All procedures were conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Severance Hospital (Institutional Review Board approval number: 2016-2133-001). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients.

2. Sputum sample acquisition

Sputum was induced using 3% saline solution and samples were collected in a deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)-free container. After collection, fresh sputum samples were transferred to sterile containers and stored at -80 °C until processing.

3. Bacteriome (16S rRNA gene amplicon) sequencing and analysis

To decrease viscosity, 20 μ L of β -mercaptoethanol (Sigma Aldrich, USA) was added to 1 mL of induced sputum, and the sample was shaken at 200 rpm for 0.5 to 1 h at 37 °C. The pretreated samples were subjected to DNA extraction using a FastDNA SPIN Kit for soil DNA extraction (MP Biomedicals, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification of the V3-V4 region of the 16S rRNA gene was performed using 2× KAPA HiFi HotStart ReadyMix (Kapa Biosystems, Italy) with primers (318F: 5'-TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGCCTACGGGNGGCW GCAG-3' 806R: 5'-GTCTCGTGGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTAT and AAGAGACAGGACTACHVGGGTATCTAATCC-3'). The PCR cycling conditions were as follows: 3 min at 95 °C; 25 cycles of 30 s at 95 °C, 30 s at 55 °C, and 30 s at 72 °C; 5 min at 72 °C; and holding at 4 °C. PCR products were purified using AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter, High Wycombe, UK). The amplicon sequencing library was constructed according to the 16S metagenomic sequencing library preparation method (Illumina, USA), and 300 bp paired-end sequencing $(2 \times 300 \text{ bp})$ was conducted using an Illumina MiSeq Reagent Kit v3



(Illumina, USA).

Raw sequencing data files were analyzed using the Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology (QIIME) 2 pipeline (https://qiime2.org; version 2021.4). DADA2 in the QIIME 2 package was used to denoise the raw sequence data. Quality filtering of the paired-end FASTQ files was performed based on Phred quality scores. A feature table consisting of amplicon sequence variants was constructed after merging paired-end sequences and removing chimeras. Taxonomic analysis was carried out using q2featureclassifier in QIIME¹⁸ with the EzBioCloud 16S database.¹⁹ A pre-specified exclusion criteria was samples with zero counts confirmed in specimens of more than 50% of the total for the negative binomial mixed model (NBMM; described in Statistical analysis section).

4. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using R version 4.1.3, SPSS version 21 (IBM Inc., Armonk, NY, USA), and OriginPro (Version 2023b. OriginLab Co. USA). Descriptive data were presented as means with standard deviations or relative abundances (%). Alpha diversity indices [observed operational taxonomic units $(OTUs)^{20}$, abundance-based coverage estimators $(ACE)^{21}$, $Chao1^{22}$, Shannon²³, and Simpson²⁴] were computed for each rarefied table, and the Kruskal–Wallis test was implemented in R to detect significant differences. Principal coordinates analysis was based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity. Differences in taxa abundance were calculated using Wilcoxon tests. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used to analyze the correlation between the microbiota and clinical characteristics, and visualization was performed in the form of a heat map. We then investigated effects of recent exacerbation, inhaled corticosteroid (ICS) usage, smoking status, and FEV₁ % predicted, on the respective genus by fitting multiple NBMM²⁵ (R package 'NBZIMM') with age, ICS usage, smoking status, FEV₁ % predicted, and time (year), respectively. *P* <0.05 was considered



statistically significant.

III. RESULTS

1. Baseline characteristics

One hundred and twenty-nine sputum samples from patients with COPD and ten sputum samples from healthy control subjects were included in the study. The clinical characteristics of the cohort are shown in Table 1. Compared to the healthy controls at baseline, the patients with COPD were older (62.6 years vs 72.0 years, P = 0.001), had lower FEV₁% predicted (102.6 % vs 63.7 %, P < 0.001), and lower FEV₁/FVC (77.8 % vs 44.2 %, P < 0.001). Among the patients with COPD, 23.3% were current smokers, 69.8% were categorized into global initiative for COPD group A, 25.6% were using ICS, and 39.5% and 48.8% of the subjects reported that they had CAT and SGRQ scores higher than 10 and 65, respectively. The taxonomic classification of the bacterial communities present in sputum is presented in Figure 2. Across the sample population, the most abundant genera were *Streptococcus* (28.9%), *Prevotella* (21.8%), and *Veillonella* (10.9%).



	Control (n=10)	COPD (n=43))
Baseline characteristics	Baseline	Baseline	1-year follow up	2-year follow up
Age, years	62.6 ± 10.3	72.0 ± 6.6	73.0 ± 6.6	74.0 ± 6.6
BMI, kg/m ²	22.8 ± 3.3	23.8 ± 3.5	24.0 ± 3.5	24.1 ± 3.3
Smoking				
Ex-smok	er 8 (80%)	33 (76.7%)	35 (81.4%)	35 (81.4%)
Current smok	er 2 (20%)	10 (23.3%)	8 (18.6%)	8 (18.6%)
Pulmonary function tests				
FVC,	$L 3.97\pm 0.39$	3.37 ± 0.65	3.40 ± 0.71	3.29 ± 0.67
FVC, % predicte	d 97.8 ± 12.1	94.2 ± 15.0	93.7 ± 16.0	91.5 ± 16.3
FEV ₁ ,	$L 3.02\pm0.55$	1.56 ± 0.41	1.52 ± 0.43	1.49 ± 0.45
FEV ₁ % predicte	d 102.6 ± 10.6	63.7 ± 16.0	64.1 ± 19.7	61.9 ± 19.1
FEV ₁ /FVC, 9	77.8 ± 2.8	44.2 ± 10.0	42.6 ± 11.0	42.3 ± 11.0
FEV ₁ % predicted <509	% 0 (0%)	7 (16.3%)	8 (18.6%)	8 (18.6%)
GOLD group	A n/a	30 (69.8%)	24 (55.8%)	28 (65.1%)
B,	E n/a	13 (30.2%)	19 (44.2%)	15 (34.9%)
Average CAT score	n/a	13.3 ± 7.8	13.1 ± 8.1	13.7 ± 9.0
CAT score < 1	0 n/a	26 (60.5%)	24 (55.8%)	25 (58.1%)
≥ 1	0 n/a	17 (39.5%)	19 (44.2%)	18 (41.9%)
Acute exacerbation within 3 months	n/a	5 (11.6%)	5 (11.6%)	4 (9.3%)
ICS use, yes	n/a	11 (25.6%)	13 (30.2%)	14 (32.6%)

Table 1. Summar	y characteristics o	participants	s included in the study
-----------------	---------------------	--------------	-------------------------

COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; BMI, body mass index; FVC, functional vital capacity; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in 1 s; CAT, COPD assessment test; SGRQ, St George's Respiratory Questionnaire; GOLD, Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease; ICS, Inhaled corticosteroid





(a)





(b)

Figure. 2 Bacterial composition of sputum samples at the genera level; (a) in all samples and (b) by annual average.



2. Lung microbiome in patients with COPD and healthy controls

No significant differences in microbial diversity were observed between the patients with COPD and healthy control lungs (Figure 3) using each of the alpha diversity metrics (observed OTUs, ACE, Chao1, Shannon, and Simpson; all P > 0.05) or Bray-Curtis analysis (P = 0.127). However, at the genus level, *Parvimonas, Selenomonas, Peptostreptococcus, Bulleidia*, and *PAC000661_g* were significantly more abundant in the lung microbiome of patients with COPD than in that of healthy controls (Figure 4).







Figure 3. Comparison of the lung microbiome between patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and healthy controls; (a) alpha diversity indices, and (b) principal coordinates analysis plot with Bray-Curtis dissimilarity.





Figure 4. Differences in the lung microbiome between patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and healthy controls at the genera level.

3. Lung microbiome in COPD according to clinical characteristics at baseline

Figure 5 shows the results of the Spearman correlation analyses between the variables and lung microbiome in COPD. *Prevotella, Rothia, Actinomyces, Atopobium, Lactobacillus, Megasphaera, Moryella,* and *Kingella* were positively, *Gemella, Lachnospiraceae_g,* and *Abiotrophia* were negatively correlated with age. *Porphyromonas, Lachnoanaerobaculum, Bergeyella, PAC001141_g,* and *Schwartzia* were positively, *Lachnospiraceae_g and PAC001341_g* were negatively correlated with FEV₁ % predicted. *Lactobacillus, Selenomonas, Treponema, Bifidobacterium, and Phocaeicola* were positively, *Haemophilus and Pseudomonas* were negatively correlated with quality of life (CAT).







assessment test.

The comparison of the lung microbiome among patients with COPD were not significantly different using the alpha diversity metrics (observed OTUs, ACE, Chao1, Shannon, and Simpson) or Bray-Curtis analysis according to recent exacerbation (Figure 6), current smoking (Figure 7), ICS use (Figure 8), and FEV₁ % predicted value of 50% (Figure 9). At the genus level, *Capnocytophaga* and *Lautropia* were more abundant in those who suffered from recent



exacerbations. *Capnocytophaga* was more abundant in ICS users. *Actinomyces, Saccharimonas,* and *Pasteurellaceae* were more abundant in current smokers, and *Rothia* and Pasteurellaceae_G were more abundant in the patients with a FEV₁ % predicted lower than 50% (Figure 10).



Figure 6. Microbiome profile according to recent exacerbation within 3 months at baseline; (a) alpha diversity indices, and (b) principal coordinates analysis plot with Bray-Curtis dissimilarity.





Figure 7. Microbiome profile according to smoking status at baseline; (a) alpha diversity indices and (b) principal coordinates analysis plot with Bray-Curtis dissimilarity.



-0.2





(a) alpha diversity indices and (b) principal coordinates analysis plot with Bray-Curtis dissimilarity.

P=0.559





Simpson



Figure 9. Microbiome profile according to forced expiratory volume in 1 s % predicted value of 50% at baseline; (a) alpha diversity indices and (b) principal coordinates analysis plot with Bray-Curtis dissimilarity.









Capnocytophaga

(b)





Figure 10. Significant differences in the microbiome of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease at the genera level according to (a) recent exacerbation, (b) inhaled corticosteroid use, (c) smoking status, and (d) forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁) % predicted value of 50%.



4. Association between repeatedly collected lung microbiome and various clinical characteristics in COPD

The genera that exhibited significant differences in their respective NBMM are shown in Table 2. In the model adjusted for age, FEV₁ % predicted, and smoking status, abundances of the genera PAC001141_g, PAC001354_g, and Slackia were significantly lower in the patients who suffered from recent exacerbations (model 1). In the model adjusted for age, FEV₁ % predicted, and smoking status, the abundances of the genera PAC001141_g, AB494828_g, and Veillonella were significantly lower in ICS users, while the abundances of PAC000661_g, Capnocytophaga, Phocaeicola, and Paludibacter were significantly higher in ICS users (model 2). In the model adjusted for age and FEV1 % predicted, the abundances of the genera Actinomyces, Atopobium, Eubacterium_g11, Neisseriaceae G, Bulleidia, Fretibacterium, Slackia, Dialister, and $PAC001354_g$ were significantly higher in current smokers (model 3). In the model adjusted for age and smoking status, significantly lower abundances of the genera *Bacteroides*, *Pasteurellaceae_G*, and *Aggregatibacter*, and significantly higher abundances of the genera Prevotella, Leptotrichia, Megasphaera, AB494828_g, and Butyrivibrio were observed according to increasing FEV₁ % predicted (model 4).



C	Daties - t-	СЕ	6 mal	D 1
	Estimate	S.E.	t-value	P-value
Model 1 - AE within 3 months ¹				
PAC001141_g	-1.211	0.602	-2.013	0.047
PAC001354_g	-0.848	0.389	-2.178	0.032
Slackia	-0.632	0.300	-2.105	0.038
Model 2 - ICS use ²				
PAC001141_g	-1.134	0.432	-2.624	0.010
AB494828_g	-0.843	0.396	-2.130	0.036
Veillonella	-0.278	0.113	-2.451	0.016
PAC000661_g	0.522	0.219	2.376	0.020
Capnocytophaga	0.612	0.187	3.279	0.002
Phocaeicola	0.784	0.333	2.353	0.021
Paludibacter	0.933	0.284	3.291	0.001
Model 3 – Current smoking ³				
Actinomyces	0.402	0.173	2.320	0.023
Atopobium	0.520	0.231	2.247	0.027
Eubacterium_g11	0.592	0.257	2.307	0.024
Neisseriaceae_G	0.638	0.274	2.325	0.022
Bulleidia	0.664	0.254	2.613	0.011
Fretibacterium	0.673	0.325	2.072	0.041
Slackia	0.715	0.358	1.994	0.049
Dialister	0.800	0.368	2.175	0.032
PAC001354_g	0.863	0.375	2.300	0.024
Model 4 - FEV1 % predicted ⁴				
Bacteroides	-0.048	0.014	-3.303	0.001
Pasteurellaceae_G	-0.023	0.006	-3.711	0.000
Aggregatibacter	-0.020	0.005	-4.142	0.000
Prevotella	0.005	0.002	2.085	0.040

Table 2.	Negative	binomial	mixed m	odels for	genera	with	significar	ntly d	ifferent
	abund	lances acc	ording to	various	clinical	chara	acteristics		



Leptotrichia	0.013	0.006	2.203	0.030
Megasphaera	0.020	0.007	2.894	0.005
AB494828_g	0.020	0.007	2.796	0.006
Butyrivibrio	0.025	0.009	2.832	0.006

 $^1 Model \ 1$ - Adjusted for age, FEV1 % predicted, smoking status

 $^2\mbox{Model}\ 2$ - Adjusted for age, FEV_1 % predicted, smoking status

 $^3Model\ 3$ - Adjusted for age, FEV1 % predicted

⁴Model 4 - Adjusted for age, smoking status

AE, recent acute exacerbation; ICS, inhaled corticosteroid; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in 1 s; NBMM, negative binomial mixed model; S.E., standard errors

We investigated the differences in the genera that were significant in the NBMM analysis according to recent exacerbation (Figure 11), ICS use (Figure 12), smoking status (Figure 13), and FEV₁ % predicted (Figure 14). The abundance of *PAC00141_g* differed significantly among patients with no recent exacerbation during the follow-up period and did not differ among those with recent exacerbation. The abundance of *AB494828_g* differed significantly during follow-up only in those who did not use ICS and the abundance of *PAC001141_g* differed significantly during follow-up only in those who used ICS. The abundances of *Neisseriaceae_G*, *Fretibacterium*, *Slackia*, and *Dialister* differed significantly during follow-up only in ex-smokers. No significant differences in genera were observed during follow-up according to FEV₁ % predicted value of 50%.





Figure 11. Difference in abundance during the follow up according to recent



exacerbation.

Figure 12. Difference in abundance during the follow up according to inhaled corticosteroid usage.





Figure 13. Difference in abundance during the follow up according to smoking status.





Figure 14. Difference in abundance during the follow-up according to FEV_1 % predicted value of 50%.

IV. DISCUSSION

The clinical significance of the microbiome lies in its potential to serve as a biomarker for disease progression and therapeutic outcomes^{26,27} In our study, the lung microbiome was associated with factors such as recent exacerbation of COPD, ICS use, smoking status, and lung function.

The lung microbiome in patients with COPD is known to be significantly different from that of healthy lungs.^{15,28} In our study, the genera *Parvimonas*, *Selenomonas*, *Peptostreptococcus*, *Bulleidia*, and *PAC000661_g* were more abundant in patients with COPD than in healthy controls. These results are consistent with those of previous studies. *Selenomonas* is known to be related to smoking²⁹ and acute exacerbation³⁰ in



COPD; *Peptostreptococcus* is known to be related to the progression of COPD³¹, and an increased prevalence of *Bulleidia* in COPD has been reported.³²

In the results of lung microbiome at baseline according to clinical characteristics, many of the results were in line with previous studies; more abundant *Capnocytophaga* in steroid usage³³ and exacerbation³⁴, more abundant *Lautropia* in exacerbation³⁵, more abundant *Actinomyces*³⁶, *Saccharimonas* and *Pasteurellaceae_G*^{37,38} in smokers. Decreased lung function was associated with more abundant *Rothia* and *Pasteurellaceae_G* in this study. This result is inconsistent with that of a previous study in which *Rothia* was shown to have an inhibitory effect on pathogen-induced inflammatory responses.³⁹ Further studies are needed on this matter.

Our results from the NBMM are also in line with previous studies; more abundant *Capnocytophaga* with steroid usage³², more abundant *Actinomyces*, *Dialister*, and *Atopobium*³⁹ with smoking, and less abundant *Bacteroides* with increased lung function.⁴⁰ In contrast, the predominance of *Neisseriaceae* in smokers is inconsistent with that of previous study for *Neisseriaceae* that reported a reduced relative abundance in the upper gastrointestinal tract of smokers.⁴¹ The smoking may result in different response to the relative abundance between gastrointestinal tract and respiratory tract. Less abundance of *Neisseriaceae* in gastrointestinal tract in smokers is explained by alterations in duodenal bicarbonate secretion and lower pH⁴² in smokers as *Neisseriaceae* is a capnophile with sensitivity to acidic conditions.⁴³

The association between *Veillonella*, *Phocaeicola*, and *Paludibacter* and ICS usage and *Leptotrichia* and *Megasphaera* and lung function has not been well studied, indicating that this is a relatively novel finding in this study. Interestingly, these genera are members of the oral commensal/pathogenic bacteria and among the genera that exhibited significant differences in the NBMM, *Slackia*, *Veillonella*, *Capnocytophaga*, *Actinomyces*, *Atopobium*, *Bulleidia*, *Fretibacterium*, *Bacteroides*, *Pasteurellaceae*, *Prevotella*, and *Leptotrichia* are members of the oral flora, and *Slackia*, *Eubacterium*, *Capnocytophaga*, *Aggregatibacter*, *Phocaeicola*, and *Megasphaera* are oral pathogens



associated with periodontitis.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ We identified *Slackia* as being significantly less abundant in patients with COPD that experienced recent exacerbation and more abundant in patients who are currently smoking. *Leptotrichia* and *Megasphaera* were more abundant and *Aggregatibacter* was less abundant as FEV₁ % predicted increased. Periodontal disease has been reported to be a significant and independent risk factor for COPD⁴⁷ and our study provides evidence of associations between COPD and oral commensal/pathogenic bacteria.

There were no significant differences in any diversity measurements (Observed OTUs, ACE, Chao1, Shannon, Simpson, and Bray-Curtis) between patients with COPD and healthy controls or according to clinical characteristics. This observation is in agreement with previous COPD studies^{18,48,49}, and the associations between lung microbiome diversity and chronic lung disease remain a matter of debate. ⁵⁰ A meta-analysis reported that the measurement of alpha-diversity does not suffice to fully understand the link between microbiota and health in patients with COPD. ⁵⁰ It is also important to note that the healthy controls were all smokers. As there are differences in the microbiomes of smokers and non-smokers, ⁵¹ cautious interpretation is warranted. This result may also be explained by the distinct sampling methods used or different geographic regions compared to other studies.⁵²

In this study, we chose NBMM to analyze our longitudinal repetitively collected data. The Poisson mixed-effects models can also be used for longitudinal repetitively collected data⁵³; however, this model was not realistic in this study because of the restriction that the mean and variance are equal.^{53,54} In practice, repetitively collected data are often over-dispersed, that is, the variance is greater than the average.⁵⁴ NBMM can effectively adjust this overdispersion^{53,55} and was more appropriate for this study.

This study has some limitations. First, it was conducted at a single Korean center, and the results may not be generalizable to other samples or populations. Second, it should be noted that sputum, although widely used in the studies of the lung microbiome, has limitations in that it is often an intermediate between bronchoalveolar lavage and upper



airway swabs, and therefore contains populations from both the upper and lower airways. However, it is noteworthy that the predominant bacterial constituents of the sputum microbiome were consistent with the lung microbiome detected in bronchoalveolar lavage and bronchial samples reported in previous studies.^{26,56} This suggests that our observations are representative of the bacterial composition of the lung microbiome. Third, we did not perform longitudinal repetitive sampling in healthy participants to demonstrate the reproducibility of the sputum microbiome over time in the healthy lung. Therefore, it is unclear whether the results from the annual follow-ups are specific to patients with COPD or whether they differ from those in healthy subjects. Fourth, only the compositional relative abundances of the taxa were used in this study. Changes in the absolute abundance of a single taxon can alter the relative abundances of all taxa, and testing hypotheses regarding mean absolute abundance.⁵⁷ Finally, we did not characterize the viral and fungal communities in this study, and they may have an important role in COPD.

V. CONCLUSION

Our longitudinal study that collected repetitive data from the same patients annually over 2 years provides unique insights into the long-term adaptations of the lung microbiome in COPD. We demonstrated that the lung microbiome in COPD differed significantly according to clinical characteristics of recent exacerbation, smoking status, ICS use, and lung function. These findings will expand the current understanding of the microbiome in patients with COPD and may facilitate its use as a biomarker in the future.

REFERENCES

- Halpin DMG, Criner GJ, Papi A, Singh D, Anzueto A, Martinez FJ, et al. Global Initiative for the Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. The 2020 GOLD Science Committee Report on COVID-19 and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;203(1):24-36.
- Buist AS, McBurnie MA, Vollmer WM, Gillespie S, Burney P, Mannino DM, et al. International variation in the prevalence of COPD (the BOLD Study): a population-based prevalence study. Lancet. 2007;370(9589):741-50.
- Agustí A, Celli BR, Criner GJ, Halpin D, Anzueto A, Barnes P, et al. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease 2023 Report: GOLD Executive Summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2023;207(7):819-37.
- Sin DD, Hollander Z, DeMarco ML, McManus BM, Ng RT. Biomarker Development for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. From Discovery to Clinical Implementation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;192(10):1162-70.
- Erb-Downward JR, Thompson DL, Han MK, Freeman CM, McCloskey L, Schmidt LA, et al. Analysis of the lung microbiome in the "healthy" smoker and in COPD. PLoS One. 2011;6(2):e16384.
- Protima A, Ian S. What is the microbiome? Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed. 2017 Oct;102(5):257-260.
- Dickson RP, Erb-Downward JR, Martinez FJ, Huffnagle GB. The Microbiome and the Respiratory Tract. Annu Rev Physiol. 2016;78(1):481-504.
- 8. Dickson RP, Erb-Downward JR, Huffnagle GB. The role of the bacterial microbiome in lung disease. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2013;7(3):245-57.
- Mayhew D, Devos N, Lambert C, Brown JR, Clarke SC, Kim VL, et al. Longitudinal profiling of the lung microbiome in the AERIS study demonstrates repeatability of bacterial and eosinophilic COPD exacerbations. Thorax. 2018;73(5):422-30. Epub 2018/01/31.



- Wang Z, Liu H, Wang F, Yang Y, Wang X, Chen B, et al. A Refined View of Airway Microbiome in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease at Species and Strain-Levels. Front Microbiol. 2020;11:1758. Epub 2020/08/28.
- 11. Natalini JG, Singh S, Segal LN. The dynamic lung microbiome in health and disease. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2023;21(4):222-35.
- 12. Wang Z, Locantore N, Haldar K, Ramsheh MY, Beech AS, Ma W, et al. Inflammatory endotype–associated airway microbiome in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease clinical stability and exacerbations: a multicohort longitudinal analysis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;203(12):1488-502.
- Morris A, Paulson JN, Talukder H, Tipton L, Kling H, Cui L, et al. Longitudinal analysis of the lung microbiota of cynomolgous macaques during long-term SHIV infection. Microbiome. 2016;4(1):38.
- Einarsson GG, Comer DM, McIlreavey L, Parkhill J, Ennis M, Tunney MM, Elborn JS. Community dynamics and the lower airway microbiota in stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, smokers and healthy non-smokers. Thorax. 2016;71(9):795-803.
- Erb-Downward JR, Thompson DL, Han MK, Freeman CM, McCloskey L, Schmidt LA, et al. Analysis of the Lung Microbiome in the "Healthy" Smoker and in COPD. PLOS ONE. 2011;6(2):e16384.
- 16. Jones P, Harding G, Berry P, Wiklund I, Chen W, Leidy NK. Development and first validation of the COPD Assessment Test. Eur Respir J. 2009;34(3):648-54.
- Hajiro T, Nishimura K, Tsukino M, Ikeda A, Koyama H, Izumi T. Analysis of clinical methods used to evaluate dyspnea in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1998;158(4):1185-9.
- Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, et al. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods. 2010;7(5):335-6.
- 19. Yoon SH, Ha SM, Kwon S, Lim J, Kim Y, Seo H, Chun J. Introducing EzBioCloud:



a taxonomically united database of 16S rRNA gene sequences and whole-genome assemblies. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2017;67(5):1613-7. Epub 2016/12/23.

- Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Holmes SP. Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in marker-gene data analysis. The ISME Journal. 2017;11(12):2639-43.
- Chao A, Lee S-M. Estimating the Number of Classes via Sample Coverage. J Am Stat Assoc. 1992;87(417):210-7.
- 22. Chao A. Nonparametric Estimation of the Number of Classes in a Population. SCAND J STAT. 1984;11(4):265-70.
- Lemos LN, Fulthorpe RR, Triplett EW, Roesch LF. Rethinking microbial diversity analysis in the high throughput sequencing era. J Microbiol Methods. 2011;86(1):42-51. Epub 20110330.
- 24. Simpson EH. Measurement of Diversity. Nature. 1949;163(4148):688-.
- Zhang X, Pei YF, Zhang L, Guo B, Pendegraft AH, Zhuang W, Yi N. Negative Binomial Mixed Models for Analyzing Longitudinal Microbiome Data. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:1683. Epub 2018/08/11.
- Metwaly A, Reitmeier S, Haller D. Microbiome risk profiles as biomarkers for inflammatory and metabolic disorders. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 2022;19(6):383-97.
- Zwezerijnen-Jiwa FH, Sivov H, Paizs P, Zafeiropoulou K, Kinross J. A systematic review of microbiome-derived biomarkers for early colorectal cancer detection. Neoplasia. 2023;36:100868. Epub 20221223.
- Mammen MJ, Sethi S. COPD and the microbiome. Respirology. 2016;21(4):590 9.
- Morris A, Beck JM, Schloss PD, Campbell TB, Crothers K, Curtis JL, et al. Comparison of the respiratory microbiome in healthy nonsmokers and smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187(10):1067-75.
- 30. Millares L, Pascual S, Montón C, García-Núñez M, Lalmolda C, Faner R, et al.



Relationship between the respiratory microbiome and the severity of airflow limitation, history of exacerbations and circulating eosinophils in COPD patients. BMC Pulm Med. 2019;19:1-9.

- 31. Wang R, Huang C, Yang W, Wang C, Wang P, Guo L, et al. Respiratory microbiota and radiomics features in the stable COPD patients. Respir Res. 2023;24(1):131. doi: 10.1186/s12931-023-02434-1.
- Pragman AA, Kim HB, Reilly CS, Wendt C, Isaacson RE. The lung microbiome in moderate and severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. PLoS One. 2012;7(10):e47305. Epub 20121011.
- 33. Nakayama R, Miyamoto S, Tawara T, Aoyagi A, Oguro T, Kobayashi N, et al. Capnocytophaga canimorsus infection led to progressively fatal septic shock in an immunocompetent patient. Acute Med Surg. 2022;9(1):e738. Epub 20220219.
- 34. Ehrmann E, Jolivet-Gougeon A, Bonnaure-Mallet M, Fosse T. Multidrug-resistant oral Capnocytophaga gingivalis responsible for an acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Case report and literature review. Anaerobe. 2016;42:50-4.
- 35. Melo-Dias S, Cabral M, Furtado A, Souto-Miranda S, Mendes MA, Cravo J, et al. Responsiveness to pulmonary rehabilitation in COPD is associated with changes in microbiota. Respir Res. 2023;24(1):29.
- Alsamawi M, Al-Mashdali AF, Eldeeb Y. Pulmonary actinomycosis as a cause of chronic productive cough in a heavy smoker male with poor dental hygiene: A case report. Clin Case Rep. 2022;10(7):e6031.
- 37. Wang R, Li S, Jin L, Zhang W, Liu N, Wang H, et al. Four-week administration of nicotinemoderately impacts blood metabolic profile and gut microbiota in a dietdependent manner. Biomed. Pharmacother. 2019;115:108945.
- 38. Fan J, Zhou Y, Meng R, Tang J, Zhu J, Aldrich MC, et al. Cross-talks between gut microbiota and tobacco smoking: a two-sample Mendelian randomization study. BMC Med. 2023;21(1):163.



- 39. Rigauts C, Aizawa J, Taylor S, Rogers GB, Govaerts M, Cos P, et al. Rothia mucilaginosa is an anti-inflammatory bacterium in the respiratory tract of patients with chronic lung disease. Eur Respir J. 2021:2101293.
- Suzuki N, Nakano Y, Yoneda M, Hirofuji T, Hanioka T. The effects of cigarette smoking on the salivary and tongue microbiome. Clin Exp Dent Res. 2022;8(1):449-56. Epub 20210910.
- Karakasidis E, Kotsiou OS, Gourgoulianis KI. Lung and Gut Microbiome in COPD. J Pers Med. 2023;13(5). Epub 20230508.
- Shanahan ER, Shah A, Koloski N, Walker MM, Talley NJ, Morrison M, Holtmann GJ. Influence of cigarette smoking on the human duodenal mucosa-associated microbiota. Microbiome. 2018;6(1):150.
- Huang C, Shi G. Smoking and microbiome in oral, airway, gut and some systemic diseases. Journal of Translational Medicine. 2019;17(1):225.
- Ainsworth MA, Hogan DL, Koss MA, Isenberg JI. Cigarette smoking inhibits acidstimulated duodenal mucosal bicarbonate secretion. Ann Intern Med. 1993;119(9):882-6.
- 45. Fine DH, Schreiner H, Velusamy SK. Aggregatibacter, A Low Abundance Pathobiont That Influences Biogeography, Microbial Dysbiosis, and Host Defense Capabilities in Periodontitis: The History of A Bug, And Localization of Disease. Pathogens. 2020;9(3).
- Kumar PS, Griffen AL, Moeschberger ML, Leys EJ. Identification of candidate periodontal pathogens and beneficial species by quantitative 16S clonal analysis. J Clin Microbiol. 2005;43(8):3944-55.
- 47. Lim KR, Son JS, Moon S-y. A case of Slackia exigua bacteremia associated with pyometra in a patient with poor dentition. Anaerobe. 2022;73:102477.
- 48. Wang Z, Singh R, Miller BE, Tal-Singer R, Van Horn S, Tomsho L, et al. Sputum microbiome temporal variability and dysbiosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations: an analysis of the COPDMAP study. Thorax.



2018;73(4):331-8. Epub 20171221.

- Huang YJ, Sethi S, Murphy T, Nariya S, Boushey HA, Lynch SV. Airway microbiome dynamics in exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Clin Microbiol. 2014;52(8):2813-23. Epub 20140521.
- Goolam Mahomed T, Peters RPH, Allam M, Ismail A, Mtshali S, Goolam Mahomed A, et al. Lung microbiome of stable and exacerbated COPD patients in Tshwane, South Africa. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):19758.
- 51. Avalos-Fernandez M, Alin T, Métayer C, Thiébaut R, Enaud R, Delhaes L. The respiratory microbiota alpha-diversity in chronic lung diseases: first systematic review and meta-analysis. Resp Res. 2022;23(1):214.
- 52. Charlson ES, Chen J, Custers-Allen R, Bittinger K, Li H, Sinha R, et al. Disordered Microbial Communities in the Upper Respiratory Tract of Cigarette Smokers. PLOS ONE. 2010;5(12):e15216.
- 53. Hazra D, SM F, Chawla K, Sintchenko V, Martinez E, Magazine R, Siddalingaiah N. The altered lung microbiome dynamics in patients with moderate and severe COPD compared to the healthy group in the Indian population. F1000Research. 2023;12:528.
- 54. Yirga AA, Melesse SF, Mwambi HG, Ayele DG. Negative binomial mixed models for analyzing longitudinal CD4 count data. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):16742.
- 55. Zandi Z, Bevrani H, Arabi Belaghi R. Estimation of Fixed Parameters in Negative Binomial Mixed Model Using Shrinkage Estimators. Journal of Data Science and Modeling. 2023;1(2):99-124.
- 56. Yang L, Chen J. Benchmarking differential abundance analysis methods for correlated microbiome sequencing data. Brief Bioinform. 2023;24(1):bbac607.
- Lin H, Peddada SD. Analysis of compositions of microbiomes with bias correction. Nature Comm. 2020;11(1):3514.



ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)

만성폐쇄성폐질환에서 폐 미생물 군집

<지도교수 정지예>

연세대학교 대학원 의학과

문 성 우

서론: 폐 미생물 군집의 프로파일은 장기적인 데이터에서는 여전히 잘 연구되지 않았다. 본 연구에서는 반복적으로 폐 미생물 군집을 확인함으로써, COPD 폐 미생물 군집이 임상적 특성에 따라 어떤 차이가 있는지 확인하고자 한다.

방법: 2017년 2월부터 2021년 8월까지 세브란스 병원에서 10명의 건강한 남성과 43명의 만성폐쇄성폐질환 환자를 모집하였다. 43명의 만성폐쇄성폐질환 환자로부터는 2년 동안 매년 총 129개의 객담 샘플을 수집하여 16S rRNA 유전자 시퀀싱을 진행하였다. 최근 3개월내 급성 악화력, 흡입용 스테로이드 사용, 흡연 상태 및 폐기능 (FEV1 % predicted)이 각각의 균주에 미치는 영향을 조사하기 위해서 negative binomial mixed model (NBMM)을 이용하여 분석하였다. 결과: 건강한 대조군과 만성폐쇄성폐질환 환자의 폐 미생물 군집의 비교 및 만성폐쇄성폐질환 환자의 임상적 특성에 따른 폐 미생물 군집의 비교에서 모두 알파-다양성과 베타-다양성의 차이가 없었다. 건강한 대조군과 만성폐쇄성폐질환 환자의 폐 미생물 군집 비교한 결과, Parvimonas, Selenomonas, Peptostreptococcus, Bulleidia, PAC000661 g 의 균주들이 건강한 대조군에서 유의하게 더 많이 관찰되었다. 반복적으로 수집한 임상적 특성에 따른 폐 균주의 차이를 확인하는 NBMM 분석에서는, 나이, FEV1 % predicted, 그리고 흡연 여부를 보정한 모델에서 PAC001141_g, PAC001354_g, Slackia 균주들의 빈도가 3개월 내 급성 악화력이 있는 경우 낮았다. 나이, FEV1 % predicted, 그리고 흡연 여부를 보정한 모델에서 PAC001141_g, AB494828_g, 그리고 Veillonella 균주들의 빈도는 흡입용 스테로이드 사용하는 경우 유의하게



낮았고, PAC000661_g, Capnocytophaga, Phocaeicola, Paludibacter 균주들의 빈도는 유의하게 높았다. 나이와 FEV₁ % predicted 을 보정한 모델에서 Actinomyces, Atopobium, Eubacterium_g11, Neisseriaceae_G, Bulleidia, Fretibacterium, Slackia, Dialister, PAC001354_g 균주들의 빈도는 현재의 흡연자에서 유의하게 높았다. 나이와 흡연 여부를 보정한 모델에서 FEV₁ % predicted 의 증가에 따라 Bacteroides, Pasteurellaceae_G, Aggregatibacter 균주들의 빈도는 유의하게 낮았고, Prevotella, Leptotrichia, Megasphaera, AB494828_g, Butyrivibrio 균주들의 빈도는 유의하게 높았다.

결론: 본 연구는 반복적으로 수집한 데이터를 기반으로 만성폐쇄성폐질환 환자에서 임상적 특성에 따른 폐 미생물 군집의 차이를 보임을 확인하였다. 이러한 결과는 만성폐쇄성폐질환 환자의 미생물 군집에 대한 이해를 확장 시킬 것이다.

핵심되는 말 : 만성폐쇄성폐질환, 폐 미생물 군집, 악화, 흡입용 스테로 이드, 흡연, 폐기능,



PUBLICATION LIST

- Sung Woo Moon, Song Yee Kim, Ji Ye Jung, Young Ae Kang, Moo Suk Park, Sang Hoon Lee, *et al.*: Relationship between obstructive lung disease and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the Korean population: Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2007-2010 INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE, Vol.13 : 2603-2611, 2018
- Sung Woo Moon, Ji Soo Choi, Sang Hoon Lee, Kyung Soo Jung, Ji Ye Jung, Song Yee Kim, *et al.*; Thoracic skeletal muscle quantification: low muscle mass is related with worse prognosis in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients RESPIRATORY RESEARCH, Vol.20(1): 35, 2019
- 3. Sung Woo Moon, Moo Suk Park, Young Sam Kim, Joon Jang, Sang Hoon Lee, Ho Il Yoon, *et al.*; Combined pulmonary fibrosis and emphysema and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in non-small cell lung cancer: impact on survival and acute exacerbation BMC PULMONARY MEDICINE, Vol.19(1) : 177, 2019
- Sung Woo Moon, Eun Hye Lee, Ji Soo Choi, Ah Young Leem, Su Hwan Lee, Young Ae Kang, *et al.*; Impact of prognostic nutritional index on outcomes in patients with Mycobacterium avium complex pulmonary disease PLOS ONE, Vol.15(5): e0232714, 2020-05
- Sung Woo Moon, Ah Young Leem, Young Sam Kim, Ji-Hyun Lee, Tae-Hyung Kim, Ji Ye Jung, *et al.*; Low serum lymphocyte level is associated with poor exercise capacity and quality of life in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease SCIENTIFIC REPORTS, Vol.10(1): 11700, 2020-07
- Sung Woo Moon, Moo Suk Park, Jin Gu Lee, Hyo Chae Paik, Young Tae Kim, Hyun Joo Lee, Song Yee Kim, *et al.*; Panel-Reactive and Donor-Specific Antibodies before Lung Transplantation can Affect Outcomes in Korean Patients Receiving Lung Transplantation YONSEI MEDICAL JOURNAL, Vol.61(7): 606-613, 2020-07
- 7. Sung Woo Moon, Song Yee Kim, Man Pyo Chung, Hongseok Yoo, Sung Hwan Jeong, Moo Suk Park, *et al.*; Longitudinal Changes in Clinical Features,



Management, and Outcomes of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. A Nationwide Cohort Study ANNALS OF THE AMERICAN THORACIC SOCIETY, Vol.18(5): 780-787, 2021-05

 Sung Woo Moon, Sang Hoon Lee, Ala Woo, Ah Young Leem, Su Hwan Lee, Song Yee Kim, *et al.*; Reference values of skeletal muscle area for diagnosis of sarcopenia using chest computed tomography in Asian general population. Journal of Cachexia, Sarcopenia and Muscle, DOI:10.1002/jcsm.12946